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I. Executive Summary 

At the direction of City Council, our firm conducted an extensive independent investigation of 
whistleblower allegations concerning the Grand Haven Board of Light and Power (“BLP”), which 
included reviewing voluminous emails and documents and interviewing 10 witnesses. We 
conclude that the whistleblower’s allegations are not substantiated by the evidence.  
 
First, we conclude that the evidence does not support the Whistleblower’s allegations that the 
“BLP coordinated an attempt to delete email records related to [the Hendrick FOIA] request” or 
that the BLP “considered and decided to pursue the permanent deletion of documents and email 
records to avoid disclosure per FOIA.” Our review of the data found no evidence that emails were 
deleted in response to Andrea Hendrick’s FOIA request. Rather, some emails had been deleted 
before the Hendrick FOIA request, when no FOIA request was pending, and the BLP’s document 
retention policy did not require the emails to be retained. After the BLP responded to the Hendrick 
FOIA request, the BLP’s senior staff implemented an IT server policy that would routinely “purge” 
deleted emails from the server after a set period of time. We find nothing unlawful about that 
policy, and that policy conforms to applicable record retention requirements. 
 
Second, we conclude that the evidence does not support the Whistleblower’s allegations that the 
BLP made “repeated false and misleading statements to its employees regarding a proposed 
Charter amendment” or that it “pressured employees to sign a letter, to contribute funds, and to 
distribute door signs, all opposed to the proposed Charter amendment.” The Whistleblower did not 
identify any allegedly false or misleading statements other than constitutionally protected political 
speech by other employees, and none of the witnesses that were interviewed (some of whom were 
identified by the Whistleblower) substantiated the Whistleblower’s claim that senior staff 
pressured employees to contribute to the Charter amendment campaign. 
 
Finally, we conclude that the evidence does not support the Whistleblower’s allegations that the 
“BLP has at least attempted to avoid compliance with the requirements of the Open Meetings Act.” 
Our review of the BLP board members’ emails found no deliberations among a quorum outside of 
an open meeting, and none of the witnesses or documents substantiated the Whistleblower’s 
concerns about a quorum of BLP board members meeting (physically or telephonically) at the BLP 
offices. Moreover, some of the Whistleblower’s allegations would not amount to violations of the 
Open Meetings Act even if substantiated. 
 
Consequently, we do not recommend that the City take any action in response to the 
Whistleblower’s allegations. Although we find that the Whistleblower’s allegations are 
unsupported by the evidence, we caution against any retaliation against the Whistleblower for 
bringing forward these claims, as reporting “suspected” violations entitles the Whistleblower to 
protection under Michigan law. However, we express no opinion as to whether the Whistleblower 
acted in conformity with any BLP policies applicable to its employees. 
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II. Scope of Investigation  

City Council initiated this investigation through its approval of Resolution No. 23-242, “A 
Resolution to Seek an Independent Investigation into Whistleblower Allegations Concerning the 
Board of Light and Power,”1 on September 18, 2023. The Resolution states in part as follows: 
 

[A] BLP employee, through their attorney, has come forward as a whistleblower 
(the “whistleblower”) to the city attorney, alleging misconduct by the BLP 
including, but not limited to, the following: 
 

i. After receiving a Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”) request, the 
BLP coordinated an attempt to delete email records related to the 
request;  
 

ii. The BLP considered and decided to pursue the permanent deletion 
of documents and email records to avoid disclosure per FOIA; 
 

iii. The BLP has repeated false and misleading statements to its 
employees regarding a proposed Charter amendment; 
 

iv. The BLP has at least attempted to avoid compliance with the 
requirements of the Open Meetings Act;  
 

v. The BLP has pressured employees to sign a letter, to contribute 
funds, and to distribute door signs, all opposed to the proposed 
Charter amendment[.] 

 
The single source of these allegations is the Whistleblower. The Whistleblower did not submit a 
written complaint because, according to the Whistleblower, there was no one to submit one to. The 
scope of the Whistleblower’s complaint is thus based on our interview and related documents and 
emails. The Whistleblower’s identity will be withheld in this report, and the pronoun “their” will 
be used to avoid disclosing the Whistleblower’s gender. 
 
Our role is to determine whether the Whistleblower’s allegations are substantiated by the evidence. 
We are not tasked with investigating any misconduct beyond the scope of the Whistleblower’s 
allegations or “seeking out” wrongdoing where none was alleged. 
 
Importantly, we are not tasked with determining whether the BLP produced all responsive 
documents in response to the FOIA request referenced in the Resolution. The question is whether 
documents or emails were deleted “after receiving [a FOIA] request” or “to avoid disclosure per 
FOIA” – not whether all responsive documents were produced in response to the FOIA. The FOIA 
requester had remedies available under law (in the form of an appeal or civil action) if they 
believed that BLP failed to produce non-exempt public records in BLP’s possession. 
 

 
1 The resolution is attached to the minutes of the September 18, 2023 City Council meeting, available online here: 
https://grandhaven.s3.amazonaws.com/pdf_documents/minutes/council/2023/09182023CM.pdf  

https://grandhaven.s3.amazonaws.com/pdf_documents/minutes/council/2023/09182023CM.pdf
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III.   Investigation Methodology 

Our investigation consisted of two components: interviewing witnesses and reviewing documents 
(primarily emails and attachments, along with applicable policies). 
 

A. Interviews 

We interviewed the following witnesses. 
 

1. Whistleblower [identity withheld] – Friday, November 17, 2023 
 

2. Dave Walters, (Former) General Manager – January 30, 2024, and February 22, 2024 
 

3. Rob Shelley, Interim General Manager – January 19, 2024 
 

4. Lynn Diffell, Finance Manager – January 19, 2024 
 

5. Earl Fisher, Engineer and Technician – February 14, 2024 
 

6. Beau Ryther, System Operator & Union President – February 14, 2024 
 

7. Michelle Ballast, Billing Specialist – February 14, 2024 
 

8. Shawn Kuck, System Operator & Union Secretary/Treasurer – February 14, 2024 
 

9. Erik Booth, Operations & Power Supply Manager – February 20, 2024 
 

10. Renee Molyneux, Retired – February 27, 2024 
 
The Whistleblower was represented by attorney Sarah Howard, who was independently retained. 
Attorney Dale Rietberg of Varnum, BLP’s insurance-appointed legal counsel, attended all 
interviews except the Whistleblower’s interview. Erik Booth was also represented by 
independently retained legal counsel during his interview. None of the attorneys representing 
either the Whistleblower or any witnesses interfered with our investigation, nor did they have any 
effect on the conclusions reached in this report. Furthermore, the City’s attorney, Ron Bultje, 
merely provided documentation given to him by the Whistleblower’s counsel but otherwise had 
no part in this investigation or the conclusions reached in this report. 
 
During our investigation, and based on the allegations and evidence provided, we determined that 
interviews of BLP board members were unnecessary.  
 
The interviewees participated voluntarily and without any promise of confidentiality or immunity. 
Only one interviewee, Erik Booth, indicated that he was participating at the direction of his 
employer, the BLP. Interviews were not recorded, but copious notes were taken, which are and 
remain attorney work product.  
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B. Emails 

The Whistleblower provided us with an external hard drive containing 211 GB of data, all 
comprised of BLP email accounts. Those email accounts belonged to 14 BLP employees and 
officials, identified in the chart below.  
 
Two dates are relevant with respect to this data: 
 

• The “Litigation Hold” date. The Whistleblower placed a “litigation hold” on various email 
accounts. The effect of this hold, in layman’s terms, is that even if the account user deleted 
or purged an email on the user’s end, the email would not actually be deleted or purged 
from the server and would still be accessible on the server. For our purposes, the Litigation 
Hold means that all emails in these accounts were preserved after the Litigation Hold date, 
regardless of the account user’s action to delete them.  
 

Below is a visual depiction of the “litigation hold” option that was placed on Renee 
Molyneux’s mailbox on September 16, 2022: 
 

 
 

• The “Offload” date. This is the date that the Whistleblower backed up the entire email 
account. This means we have a “snapshot” of these email accounts as of each Offload date.  

 
o Important Note: if an email was deleted by the account user after the Litigation 

Hold date, it will still appear in the data that was saved on the Offload Date where 
the entire mailbox was offloaded. The deleted email will appear either under 
“deleted items” (if deleted by the user) or “purged items” (if manually purged from 
the deleted items folder or automatically purged by the system under the policy that 
took effect in October 2022, discussed later in this report).  
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o The hard drive data does not identify the date that an email was deleted or the 
identity of the user who deleted it. That would require the audit log from the 
Microsoft Outlook Exchange server for the BLP. We requested this audit log for 
the period of September 5-22, 2022, from the BLP. We were advised that the BLP 
operates under Microsoft’s default policy, which retains the audit logs only for 365 
days. Consequently, Microsoft Outlook Exchange automatically disposed of any 
audit logs before our investigation began, and this data is unavailable.  

 
Name on Email 
Account 

Date of “Litigation 
Hold” 

Date of 
Offload/Backup 

Number of 
Emails2,3 

Dave Walters 9/16/2022 3/14/2023, 4/27/2023, 
5/1/2023, and 9/6/2023 

62,987 

Andrea Hendrick n/a 3/14/2023 927 
Dan Bryant n/a (unclear)4 1,296 
Danielle Martin n/a 10/24/2023 207 
Erik Booth 9/16/2022 4/14/2023, 7/14/2023 

and 9/11/2023 
42,296 

G. Witherell n/a 3/14/2023 2,480 
Jack Smant n/a (unclear) 1,245 
John Naser n/a (unclear) 761 
K. Knoth n/a 3/14/2023 356 
Lynn Diffell 4/6/2023 4/6/2023 9,100 
M. Westbrook n/a 3/14/2023 1,625 
Renee Molyneux 9/16/2022 4/7/2023 84,222 
Rob Shelley 4/6/2023 4/6/2023 11,863 
Todd Crum n/a 3/14/2023 1,352 
L. Kieft n/a (unclear) 1,252 
Total 221,969 

 
Because the Whistleblower offloaded the entire contents of these accounts, these certainly are not 
all relevant emails. To the contrary, these 221,969 emails include spam, newsletters and 
subscription emails, calendar entries, and other routine workplace correspondence dating back 
many years (for example, some accounts date back to 2012).  
 
During the September 18, 2023 City Council meeting, City Attorney Ron Bultje stated that there 
was indication of a “particular file of 6,000 emails that would be especially pertinent.” It is unclear 
what this referred to, although we speculate it was a data file of a “saved search” performed by the 
Whistleblower with all emails containing a particular search term.  
 

 
2 Based on most recent Offload Date. 
 
3 We have not included the Whistleblower’s own email account in this chart.  
 
4 The Whistleblower did not provide this information, and the electronic “date modified” date on the hard drive pre-
dates the time period when the Whistleblower indicated they were offloading e-mails. 
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Our investigation involved reviewing the emails that were potentially relevant by timeframe 
(focusing on 2022 and 2023) and subject matter. Potentially relevant emails were personally 
reviewed by attorneys within our law firm.   
 
The remainder of this report is organized by the general topics of the Whistleblower’s complaint. 
 

IV.    FOIA & Alleged Deletion of Emails 

A. Hendrick FOIA Request 

Before discussing the Whistleblower’s complaint, it is important to understand the FOIA request 
that is referenced in the Resolution. The FOIA request was submitted by attorney Sarah Howard 
on behalf of BLP board member Andrea Hendrick. There was some “back and forth” between 
Attorney Howard and the BLP’s FOIA coordinator, Renee Molyneux, as summarized here: 
 

• September 6, 2022: Initial FOIA request, seeking the information described below: 
 

“All written or otherwise stored communications by and/or between David Walters, 
BLP general manager; any other staff person of BLP; any board member of BLP; 
any agent of a staff or board member of BLP; and/or any attorney or agent for the 
Varnum Law Firm, regarding the resolution presented at the August 3, 2022 BLP 
board meeting seeking to hire the Varnum Law Firm to represent the BLP. “Written 
or otherwise stored communications” include communications sent via: email 
and/or text on any device; messaging service like that on Facebook, Snapchat or 
Instragram [sic]; exchanged drafts of resolutions or of other documents intended to 
result in the BLP hiring its own separate legal counsel or other type of adviser; 
and/or voicemail messages.” (Exhibit A.) 

• September 14, 2022: Initial FOIA response from BLP: 
 

“The Board of Light & Power has reviewed, and is responding accordingly, to your 
request for copies of any written or stored communications between the GHBLP, 
or any agent of the GHBLP, and Varnum Law Firm regarding the Resolution 
presented at the August 3, 2022, Board Meeting. 

Request Denied: The GHBLP does not have any written or stored communications 
with the Varnum Law Firm regarding the Resolution approved by its Board at their 
August 3, 2022, Board Meeting.” (Exhibit B.) 

 
• September 15, 2022: FOIA clarification from Attorney Howard: 

 
“I believe that my request was sufficiently clear, but if not, I did indeed want all 
communications that are on the broad subject of seeking separate legal counsel, 
whether or not those communications include a person associated with the Varnum 
law firm. For example, that would include communications between Mr. Walters 
and any other person; a Board member and any other person; a BLP staff person 
other than Mr. Walters, and so forth.” (Exhibit C.) 
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• September 22, 2022: Supplemental FOIA response from BLP: 
 

“The Board of Light & Power has reviewed, and is responding accordingly, to your 
request for copies of any written or stored communications between the GHBLP, 
or any agent of the GHBLP, and Varnum Law Firm regarding the Resolution 
presented at the August 3, 2022, Board Meeting. 

Request Approved: The GHBLP is providing the following documents, which 
includes all “written or otherwise stored communications by and/or between David 
Walters, BLP general manager; any other staff person of BLP; any board member 
of BLP; any agent of a staff or board member of BLP; and/or any attorney or agent 
for the Varnum Law Firm, regarding the resolution presented at the August 3, 2022 
BLP board meeting seeking to hire the Varnum Law Firm to represent the BLP.” 

• 07 21 22 Board Minutes 

• 08 03 22 Special Board Meeting Minutes 

• 2022 07 21 GHBLP Proposes Intragovernmental Agreement - 16.1MM 
Transfer to City (attachment) 

• 2022 07 21 News Release - GHBLP Proposes Intragovernmental 
Agreement - 16.1MM Transfer to City 

• 2022 08 02 Board - Special Board Meeting - August 3rd 

• 2022 08 02 Council - Special Board Meeting 

• 2022 08 02 Special Meeting - August 3 

• 2022 08 03 Media Release - GHBLP Adopts Resolution to Support 
Cohesive Plan with Grand Haven City Council 

• 2022 08 04 GHBLP Board Adopts Resolution to Support Cohesive Plan 
with Grand Haven City Council 

• 2022 08 05 Facebook Post – Hendrick 

• 2022 08 11 Molyneux - Hendrick RE_ Resolution 

• 2022 08 12 Keeping You Informed 
 

• August 3 2022 Special Meeting Notice 
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• Board Agenda 08 03 22 Special Mtg 

• Board Package August 18, 2022 

• Board Resolution 8-3-22 

• Email Confirming Special Board Meeting Date and Time 

This response includes all the “written or otherwise stored communications by 
and/or between David Walters, BLP general manager; any other staff person of 
BLP; any board member of BLP; any agent of a staff or board member of BLP; 
and/or any attorney or agent for the Varnum Law Firm, regarding the resolution 
presented at the August 3, 2022 BLP board meeting seeking to hire the Varnum 
Law Firm to represent the BLP” that we have.” (Exhibit D.) 

 
To our knowledge, the FOIA requester did not appeal from this response or file a civil action under 
FOIA.  
 

B. Document Retention Policy 

The BLP follows the Michigan Municipal League’s Schedule #8, Record Management Handbook: 
Guidelines and Approved Retention Schedules for Cities and Villages (“MML Schedule #8”) and 
any other superseded or supplement general retention schedules approved by the State of Michigan 
(collectively the “Record Retention Schedules”).5 The following rules are relevant to our 
investigation:  
 

Schedule #8 (MML Schedule #8; Introduction): “drafts, duplicates, convenience 
copies, publications and other materials that do not document agency activities” are 
“non-record materials” that “can be disposed of when they have served their 
intended purpose.” (Unofficial Documents, pp 1-2) 
 
General Schedule #1 (Non-record Material Defined; approved 6/2/2015) : 
“Examples of non-records may include . . . draft documents that are replaced by 
new or final versions . . . [and] letters of transmittal (including routing slips) that 
do not add any information to the transmitted material.” 
 

“Non-record materials can be disposed of when they no longer needed for 
reference purposes.” 

 
General Schedule #35 (Local Government Administrative Records; approved June 
2023): “Transitory records” are records that “document local government activities 

 
5 Pursuant to the authority granted by Michigan law (MCL 399.811 and 750.491), the Michigan Department of 
Technology, Management and Budget approved the MML Schedules.  The MML Schedules incorporate list specific 
documents and the amount of time that records must retained.  The MML Schedules also identify “non-records” that 
are not required to be retained.  We understand that the BLP follows the MML Schedules unless superseded by an 
updated general retention schedule or a supplemented general retentions schedules as noted on the MML’s website: 
https://mml.org/resources-research/information/records/  

https://mml.org/resources-research/information/records/
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that have temporary value and do not need to be retained once their intended 
purpose has been fulfilled. They may include, but may not be limited to, routine 
requests for information that require no: administrative action, policy decision, 
special compilation of research; requests or matters that are addressed by creating 
other records; and reminders.” Transitory records must be retained until “activity is 
completed,” and then can be destroyed. (Item #125.) 

C. Whistleblower Complaint 

The Whistleblower states that their concerns originated in September 2022, around the time of the 
Hendrick FOIA request.  
 
On September 15, 2022, the Whistleblower sent an email from their work account to their personal 
account with the subject line “CYA Work Situation that happened on 9/9/2022.” The email reads 
as follows in its entirety, with relevant portions emphasized in bold by the authors of this report: 
 

Thursday September 15th, 2022, 

I’m sending this email to my personal email account as a record of an 
event/conversation I had last week with Dave Walters. The subject matter and what 
was asked of me made me feel extremely uncomfortable. I felt the situation I’ve 
explained below was morally wrong and possibly illegal in my opinion. Right after 
the situation I’ve described below took place I immediately went to my manager 
Rob Shelly and informed him of the conversation I had with Dave Walters and that 
I had some issues with it. Later that day Rob and I talked about what was said and 
I explained the situation to him. Rob told me that he knows the request to delete 
items came from Dave, but he (Rob) as my manager would not instruct me to do 
anything I feel is morally wrong and that he would have a conversation with Dave 
and would get back to me on this issue. 

I ended up not deleting the Outlook email items Dave Walters had ask me to delete 
from the executive managers accounts. Instead, I was tasked to work on creating a 
policy that would auto delete & purge items in the Outlook “Deleted Items” folder 
after 7 days. 

I don’t know if the managers ended up deleting & purging the email items Dave 
Walters wanted deleted on their own or not but thinking about it the situation still 
makes me feel uneasy almost a week later. Which is why I’m writing about and 
documenting this incident. I’ve written this issue down in my Work Log on my 
iPad at the time but thought I should have this documented in a way that was a little 
more trackable and with timestamps. 

The situation: 

The morning of Friday September 9th, 2022, Dave Walters met with me in his 
office. He wanted me to show him how to delete & purge emails, so they are not 
recoverable. I walked Dave through the process of deleting & purging items in his 
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Outlook Deleted Items folder. I also explained to him our current email retention 
setup that with the amount of storage space Microsoft gives us for mailboxes that 
all emails are kept forever until the user deletes the email and then purges the 
“Deleted Items” folder in Outlook. At that point, I believe I as the O365 Admin can 
recover items deleted & purged by users 30 days from the time the item was deleted 
& purged, but I don’t know that for a fact and haven’t ever performed that type of 
recovery on our system. My belief is after those 30 days from the time the user 
deletes and purges the item it is gone for good. Dave informed me about a FOIA 
request from a Board member (Andrea) and instructed me to meet with the 
other executive managers (Lynn, Renee, Erik, Rob) and delete & purge their 
Outlook deleted items folder and to explain to them the current email retention 
setup that I explained to him. Dave was upset as he explained to me about an 
email Renee had that Dave instructed her to delete and for whatever reason 
she didn’t delete it. Dave was concerned that now that email would be included 
in the FOIA request which he stated he didn’t want. Dave said after I meet with 
the other executive managers I should sit down with Rob and develop a company 
policy for email retention that includes autodeleting & purging items in a user’s 
Outlook “Deleted Items” folder after a given time frame, Dave’s example was 
something like nightly or every 1-2 days. 

(Exhibit E, Whistleblower Email.) 
 
During our interview, the Whistleblower explained what transpired in a manner consistent with 
their “CYA” email above. The Whistleblower perceived the interactions described above to mean 
that Dave Walters wanted to delete (or have other BLP staff members delete) a particular email to 
avoid producing it in response to the Hendrick FOIA request.  
 
On September 16, 2022 (the day after the “CYA” email), the Whistleblower placed a “litigation 
hold” on the email accounts belonging to Dave Walters, Erik Booth, and Renee Molyneux. At 
some point, the Whistleblower learned that the Hendrick FOIA request related to the BLP’s hiring 
of Varnum as legal counsel. The Whistleblower conducted various searches in the email accounts, 
searching for terms such as “Varnum” and “Seyferth.” The Whistleblower read an unknown 
number of emails and found what the Whistleblower believed to be emails responsive to the 
Hendrick FOIA request.  
 
One email gave the Whistleblower particular concern. The Whistleblower described it as an email 
from Dave Walters to Erik Booth about Varnum, stating that Walters had asked Varnum for “free 
legal advice.” The Whistleblower recalled the email stating something to the effect of, “after you 
read this, delete.” The Whistleblower found this suspicious.  
 
The Whistleblower did eventually create and implement the “auto deletion” policy referenced 
above in October 2022, as evidenced by this October 28, 2022 email from the Whistleblower to 
Walters, Diffell, Booth, Shelley, and Molyneux: 
 

I have implemented the new email retention policy to your Outlook Deleted Items 
folder. It might take a little while for the policy to activate on this folder, but when 
its active the items in your Deleted Items folder will be deleted 7 days from the 
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time the police [sic] is activated. You will then have another 14 days to recover 
those deleted items before they are permanently deleted from the Recovery Items 
location inside the Deleted Items folder. Please let me know if you have any 
questions. 

 
(Exhibit F.) As noted in the chart on page 6 above, the Whistleblower offloaded email mailboxes 
at various times over the following year. Once the Whistleblower collected “enough” items to be 
reviewed, the Whistleblower downloaded the emails to an external storage device but was not sure 
how to report the emails. The Whistleblower believed BLP board members might be involved.  
 
The Whistleblower eventually created a secret encrypted email address with an alias and sent an 
email to Andrea Hendrick, stating that the Whistleblower had information on what might be illegal 
activity. Hendrick gave the Whistleblower the contact information for Attorney Howard, who also 
represents Hendrick. Upon receiving the information, Attorney Howard contacted City Attorney 
Ron Bultje and the Attorney General’s office. This led to City Council’s approval of the Resolution 
and ultimately the engagement of our law firm.  
 

D. Summary of Additional Interviews 

With respect to the FOIA/alleged email deletion complaint, we interviewed Renee Molyneux, 
Robert Shelley, Lynn Diffell, Erik Booth, and Dave Walters. The following is a brief summary of 
their interviews; their statements are discussed in greater detail in the Analysis section.  
 
Renee Molyneux 
 
Molyneux was the FOIA coordinator at the time of the Hendrick FOIA request. Molyneux has 
now retired, so she did not have access to any BLP records during our interview. 
 
Molyneux explained that her practice during her 15 years at the BLP was to delete emails that she 
was not required to keep under the document retention policy (Record Retention Schedules)6, but 
she did not “purge” them very often. She would occasionally purge the emails from her “deleted 
folder,” and before her March 31, 2023 retirement, she deleted and purged any emails that did not 
need to be retained. Her practice was to delete draft documents, consistent with the Record 
Retention Schedules. Molyneux did not recall when she deleted specific draft documents. 
 
Molyneux stated that she never deleted a document to avoid producing it under FOIA, and neither 
Dave Walters nor anyone else at the BLP ever asked her to do so. If anyone had asked her to delete 
documents in response to a FOIA request, she would not have done so. She was not aware of 
anyone deleting documents in response to FOIA requests.    
 
Molyneux believes the Whistleblower’s allegations about a “coordinated attempt” to delete 
documents to avoid disclosure under FOIA is “absolutely false.” 
 

 
6 During the interviews, witnesses would use the term “MML Schedules” or “MML record retention policy” to refer 
to the record retention schedules BLP was required to follow.  For the sake of consistency, we understand that they 
were referring to the Record Retention Schedules, defined above, so we will consistently use that defined term. 
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Robert Shelley 
 
Shelley explained the history of the BLP’s email practices and policies. He stated that in the past, 
if someone deleted an email but did not purge the email, it stayed on the server “forever.” While 
some individuals (such as Dave Walters) knew how to purge their deleted emails, not all employees 
were doing that. This meant that some documents that should have been disposed of under the 
Record Retention Schedules would be purged in some email accounts but not others.  
 
After the Hendrick FOIA request, several individuals in BLP’s senior staff – Shelley, Walters, and 
Molyneux – decided that the BLP needed to have an email deletion policy because everyone was 
handling emails differently. They therefore asked the Whistleblower to institute a policy so that 
deleted emails would automatically be purged after a certain period of time.  
 
Shelley denies that Walters ever directed him to delete or purge emails, either in general or in 
response to a FOIA request.  
 
Lynn Diffell 
 
Diffell worked closely with Dave Walters. She stated that Walters never asked her to delete or 
purge any emails or documents. Diffell would work with Molyneux (the FOIA coordinator at that 
time) when FOIA requests were received. Diffell and Molyneux would discuss whether certain 
documents were responsive or exempt from disclosure, but their conversations were not about 
whether they wanted to produce the documents. 
 
Diffell was not involved in the discussions about an “autodeletion” policy for emails, but she 
understood that it was not about a “smoking gun” email, but rather the fact that the volume of 
emails in the BLP system was overwhelming. If deleted emails were automatically purged, then 
there would be less to review when a FOIA request was received.  
 
Diffell further stated that she did not have any conversations with the Whistleblower about the 
deletion policy or the Whistleblower’s concerns. If the Whistleblower had come to her, Diffell 
said she would have helped them.  
 
Erik Booth 
 
Booth had minimal involvement with FOIA requests and was only sent requests for which he 
potentially had responsive documents. Booth did not recall whether he had documents responsive 
to the Hendrick FOIA request. His practice was to delete drafts or working drafts, which he 
understood was a directive both from BLP’s Human Resources department and Walters.  
 
Booth denied deleting any documents in response to any FOIA requests. He stated that no one ever 
asked him to delete any emails in response to a FOIA request, and he had not heard of anyone at 
the BLP deleting emails to avoid disclosing them under FOIA.  
 
With respect to an “autodeletion” policy for emails, Booth understood that the quantity of emails 
was “getting out of control,” and the BLP wanted staff to be able to organize emails and quickly 
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find responsive documents when FOIA requests were received. However, Booth stated he was not 
involved in the underlying reasons for the policy and that he does not deal with IT matters.  
 
Dave Walters 
 
We interviewed Dave Walters in two sessions, for a total of nearly eight hours. Walters disputes 
the City Council’s authority to direct this investigation. He provided a written statement of his 
objections and asked that it be included in this report. His statement is attached as Exhibit G. 
Despite his objections, Walters participated voluntarily in the interviews.  
 
Walters provided extensive background on internal matters at the BLP, such as the Harbor Island 
environmental issues, that led to the BLP’s desire to retain Varnum as its special utility counsel. 
Varnum had done work for the BLP for many years, but the City Council removed Varnum as 
BLP’s counsel in appropriately March 2022, according to Walters.  
 
Walters drafted a resolution for the BLP board’s consideration at its August 3, 2022 meeting and 
emailed a draft to Attorney Rietberg at Varnum to review. He wanted Attorney Rietberg to review 
it because it involved the re-hiring of Varnum. Walters then deleted those emails around the time 
they were sent and received because he did not want Varnum to be in any trouble for reviewing 
the resolution. Walters believes the Hendrick FOIA was seeking those emails between Walters 
and Varnum, but they were deleted well before the FOIA request. Walters noted that the Record 
Retention Schedules did not require him to retain draft documents. 
 
Walters explained that he does not routinely delete emails, but when he does, he always purges 
them. He traces this practice back to his experience as a submariner, where he was trained to 
permanently delete or destroy anything that needed to be disposed of to avoid espionage threats. 
 
When he received the Hendrick FOIA request from Molyneux, Walters searched his email around 
the period of August 3, 2022, but found nothing that he believed to be responsive.  
 
Walters stated that he never directed anyone to delete emails, other than a single email from August 
31, 2022, in which he asked Erik Booth to delete a draft email after reviewing it. That email is 
discussed in the Analysis below. Walters adamantly stated that he did not ask anyone to delete 
emails in response to a FOIA request.  
 
With regard to the “autodeletion” policy, Walters said that the “human process wasn’t consistent” 
because some employees deleted emails and others did not. Walters’s perspective was that if an 
employee deleted an email, it should be permanently deleted from the server – not left sitting on 
the system forever. Walters recalls telling his staff that he did not want a situation where the BLP 
failed to produce a document because different employees had retained different emails.  
 
This is what occurred with the email exchange about the August 3 draft resolution, according to 
Walters. He had sent a draft to Renee Molyneux to review, and she deleted it but did not purge it. 
This concerned Walters because they were not required to retain it, and she had intended to delete 
it, but it was still on the server. Nonetheless, Walters said he did not tell Molyneux or anyone else 
to delete anything, and he had nothing to hide.  
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E. Analysis 

Under the Resolution, two allegations relate to the Hendrick FOIA request: 
 

“After receiving a Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”) request, the BLP coordinated an 
attempt to delete email records related to the request.” 

 
“The BLP considered and decided to pursue the permanent deletion of documents and 
email records to avoid disclosure per FOIA;” 

 
We conclude that neither allegation is substantiated by the evidence.  
 
The Whistleblower summarized their concerns as follows in the CYA email: 
 

Dave informed me about a FOIA request from a Board member (Andrea) and 
instructed me to meet with the other executive managers (Lynn, Renee, Erik, Rob) 
and delete & purge their Outlook deleted items folder and to explain to them the 
current email retention setup that I explained to him. Dave was upset as he 
explained to me about an email Renee had that Dave instructed her to delete 
and for whatever reason she didn’t delete it. Dave was concerned that now that 
email would be included in the FOIA request which he stated he didn’t want. 
Dave said after I meet with the other executive managers I should sit down with 
Rob and develop a company policy for email retention that includes 
autodeleting & purging items in a user’s Outlook “Deleted Items” folder after 
a given time frame[.] 

 
There are two components of this conversation that must be analyzed separately: (1) Dave 
Walters’s concern about an email being produced in the FOIA because Molyneux had not deleted 
it, and (2) Walters’s request that the Whistleblower develop an “autodeleting & purging” policy. 
The Whistleblower also raised in their interview a third concern about other emails referencing 
Varnum, including one that instructed the recipients to delete after reading. We analyze each issue 
below.  
 

1. The Draft Resolution Email Exchange 
 
Our investigation determined that the “email Renee had that Dave instructed her to delete” that 
“Dave was concerned about” was an email exchange from July 31, 2022 to August 1, 2022, in 
which Walters, Booth, and Molyneux were exchanging drafts of the August 3, 2022 resolution of 
the BLP to approve Varnum as the BLP’s special legal counsel for utility matters.  
 
Dave Walters stated in our interview that he understood the Hendrick FOIA request to be 
requesting that draft resolution and related correspondence with Varnum. He believed this based 
on questions from Hendrick during the meeting. Those questions are reflected in the August 3, 
2022 BLP board meeting minutes: 
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Director Hendrick asked who prepared the Resolution and if an attorney assisted in that 
process. 
 
The General Manager stated he drafted the Resolution, which was reviewed by Varnum as 
the Resolution considers their reinstatement. After then being asked, Walters stated no 
payment was made to Varnum for this review and no invoice for such services is expected. 
(Exhibit G.) 

 
Walters drafted the resolution. He then asked Dale Rietberg at Varnum to review the draft 
resolution, and Attorney Rietberg proposed revisions to the last paragraph of the resolution. The 
draft was then circulated internally to Erik Booth and Renee Molyneux for any changes. 
 
This is the email exchange at issue: 
 

From: Dave Walters 
Sent: Sunday, July 31, 2022 10:26 PM 
To: Dale Rietberg (drrietberg@varnumlaw.com) <drrietberg@varnumlaw.com> 

 Subject: Draft resolution 
 

Dale, 
 
Can you review the attached draft resolution ASAP? I think I desire to remove the 
references to charter sections later, however, at this point they serve to reference 
and highlight the applicable sections. We also may want to shorten or focus the 
resolution a bit further. Let me know your thoughts. I like the two “be it resolved 
statements” – the whereas statements are only informational and can be shortened. 
 
I have a meeting at 11 AM tomorrow with the board chair and vice‐chair to schedule 
a special meeting (single agenda item would be this resolution) hopefully this week 
to act on such a resolution. SeyferthPR will additionally be drafting a press release 
for this meeting and action. 
 
The Board would also likely then cancel the special joint meting [sic] on the 10th, 
to allow the City Council time to consider the Board’s resolution. We are leaving 
them very little room to maneuver and still proceed. 
 
Thoughts? 
 
Dave 
 
--- 
 
From: Dave Walters 
Sent: Monday, August 1, 2022 8:15 AM 
To: Dale Rietberg (drrietberg@varnumlaw.com) <drrietberg@varnumlaw.com> 
Subject: RE: Draft resolution 
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I [sic] few updates. 
 
Dave 
--- 
 
From: Dave Walters <DWalters@ghblp.org> 
Sent: Monday, August 1, 2022 8:33 AM 
To: Erik Booth <EBooth@ghblp.org>; Renee Molyneux 
<RMolyneux@ghblp.org> 
Subject: FW: Draft resolution 
 
Review and make any suggests [sic] to improve with an eye to shorten if possible, 
without losing arguments. 
 
Dave 
 
---  
 
From: Renee Molyneux 
Sent time: 08/01/2022 10:26:39 AM 
To: Dave Walters; Erik Booth 
Subject: RE: Draft resolution 

 
Attachments: Proposed Board Resolution 8-1-22 v02.docx 
 
Several proposed revisions are included in the attached draft. 

 
(Exhibit H.) 
 
Walters indicated that he deleted this email exchange immediately or shortly after sending and 
receiving the emails (in late July/early August 2022). This included permanently purging the 
emails from his account. Walters did this because he believed the emails were likely not privileged, 
and he was also concerned about getting Varnum in any kind of trouble for advising on the 
resolution when Varnum was not officially retained to do so. There was no FOIA request pending 
at this time related to the resolution; the Hendrick FOIA was submitted more than one month later.  
 
Walters explained that he was concerned about BLP employees being inconsistent in their email 
deletion practices, as it could result in one employee having a document responsive to the FOIA 
request in a “deleted” folder and another employee not having the document, which Walters 
thought was problematic. Walters stated he was not concerned about producing this particular 
email (as he had already told the BLP board that Varnum reviewed the draft resolution, so there 
was nothing secretive about the exchange), but rather was concerned about inconsistent record 
retention within the BLP and how it might look if he had deleted an email but Renee had not.  
 



 

 
18 

The email records substantiate that as of September 16, 2022 (the date of the Whistleblower’s 
litigation hold), the “draft resolution” email was not in Walters’s email account, meaning it was 
deleted and permanently purged before September 16, 2022. There is no evidence to contradict 
Walters’s statement that he deleted it long before the FOIA request. 
 
The email exchange was also not found in Erik Booth’s email account, indicating that he also 
purged it at some point before September 16, 2022. Booth stated during his interview that his 
practice was to delete drafts, and he understood that was the expectation not only from Walters 
both from the Human Resources department – drafts were not to be saved. Booth stated that when 
he received the Hendrick FOIA request from Renee, he would have searched his email folder files 
and inbox. Booth stated to Renee at the time that he had no responsive documents. There is no 
evidence to contradict Booth’s statement that he did not delete documents in response to the 
Hendrick FOIA request.  
 
The email exchange was, however, found in the “purged” folder of Renee Molyneux’s email 
account, meaning that it had not been permanently deleted (purged) from her account before 
September 16, 2022, the date of her litigation hold. This could mean that Molyneux deleted (but 
did not permanently “purge”) the email before September 16, 2022, or it could mean that 
Molyneux deleted the email on any date after September 16, 2022, but before April 6, 2023, when 
the Whistleblower offloaded her account. 
 
During her interview, Molyneux was shown the email exchange, and she stated that she did not 
remember when she deleted it. She stated that under the Record Retention Schedules, the BLP was 
not required to retain drafts of documents.7 Thus, she believed she would have deleted the email 
exchange because she was not required to retain it. Molyneux stated that she likely would not have 
permanently purged the email but rather simply deleted it. 
 
When Molyneux approached retirement (she retired on March 31, 2023), she deleted and purged 
any emails other than those that were required to be retained or that she thought would be helpful 
to her successors, Lynn Diffell and Danielle Martin. She would have purged any drafts that 
remained in her deleted folder at this time. 
 
With respect to the Whistleblower’s allegations, Molyneux stated that she never deleted a 
document to avoid producing it pursuant to FOIA. She further stated that neither Dave Walters nor 
anyone else at the BLP ever asked her to delete a document to avoid production under FOIA, and 
if they had asked her, she would not have done so. She stated that she was unaware of anyone 
deleting emails in response to a FOIA request and that the allegation of a coordinated effort to 
delete documents in response to a FOIA request is “absolutely false.” 
 
Molyneux also noted that if the drafts were not deleted, she did not believe they would be subject 
to FOIA because they were subject to the attorney-client privilege and because they were only 
drafts.  

 
7 The Introduction of MML Schedule #8,” states that “drafts, duplicates, convenience copies, publications and other 
materials that do not document agency activities” are “nonrecord materials” that “can be disposed of when they have 
served their intended purpose.” 
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As noted above, the email exchange was in the “purged” Molyneux’s email account when the 
Whistleblower offloaded the account in April 2023, but we have no evidence indicating when the 
email was deleted. It would have been automatically moved from “deleted” to “purged” after the 
autodeletion policy took effect in late October 2022.  
 
Molyneux denies deleting the email exchange in response to the Hendrick FOIA request or to 
avoid disclosing it under FOIA, and there is no evidence in the email data or interviews to 
contradict her statement. Even the Whistleblower does not claim to have knowledge that the email 
was deleted; the Whistleblower only claims that Walters was concerned about having to produce 
it. Conjecture is not sufficient to support the Whistleblower’s allegations. 
 
No witness claims that Renee actually deleted the email exchange in response to the Henrick FOIA 
request. And the email data confirms that Walters and Booth deleted the email exchange well 
before the FOIA request, as permitted by the Record Retention Schedules. Accordingly, we find 
no evidence that the BLP deleted the email exchange to avoid disclosure under FOIA.  
 

2. Autodeletion Policy 
 
The Whistleblower states that in September 2022, “Dave said after I meet with the other executive 
managers I should sit down with Rob and develop a company policy for email retention that 
includes autodeleting & purging items in a user’s Outlook ‘Deleted Items’ folder after a given time 
frame, Dave’s example was something like nightly or every 1-2 days.” 

That policy was implemented on or around October 28, 2022: 

I have implemented the new email retention policy to your Outlook Deleted Items 
folder. It might take a little while for the policy to activate on this folder, but when 
its active the items in your Deleted Items folder will be deleted 7 days from the 
time the police [sic] is activated. You will then have another 14 days to recover 
those deleted items before they are permanently deleted from the Recovery Items 
location inside the Deleted Items folder. Please let me know if you have any 
questions. (Exhibit F.) 
 

As noted in the interview summaries above, Walters, Diffell, and Shelley explained that the 
purpose of this policy was to ensure that deleted emails were handled uniformly. Walters was 
concerned that the BLP could have liability if a deleted email was not produced in response to a 
FOIA but was later discovered on the server because it had not been “purged.” Most employees 
were not taking the extra step to purge deleted emails, so the policy ensured that this was done 
automatically.  

The policy was implemented more than a month after the BLP responded to the Hendrick FOIA 
request. We find no evidence that the BLP “coordinated an attempt to delete email records related 
to the request” by implementing this policy. Accordingly, we do not believe this allegation has 
merit.  
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3. Other Emails of Interest 

The Whistleblower appeared to believe that any emails about Varnum were relevant to the 
Hendrick FOIA request. For example, the Whistleblower pointed us to emails dating back to 2018 
between Walters and Varnum. Those are not material to the Hendrick FOIA, which requested 
public records “regarding the resolution presented at the August 3, 2022 BLP board meeting 
seeking to hire the Varnum Law Firm to represent the BLP.” (Exhibit A.) 
 
To be sure, Walters and other BLP staff members possessed many emails referencing Varnum, but 
many of them were likely not within the scope of the FOIA request (a question that is beyond the 
scope of our investigation). Regardless, there is no evidence that these emails were deleted to avoid 
disclosure under FOIA.  
 
There is one particular email that raised red flags for the Whistleblower, as it directed the recipient 
to delete the email after review: 
 

From:   Dave Walters 
Sent time:  08/31/2022 05:13:19 PM 
To:   Erik Booth 
Subject:  FW: Reason for my earlier call 
Attachments:  Kieft-Westbrook Ltr dated 9-1-2022.docx 
 
I drafted this letter to Ron for Larry and Mike and I additionally sent it to Dale 
below for some “free legal advice.” 
 
Let me know what you think. After you review it please delete the draft and this 
e‐mail and your response. 
 
Dave 
 
 
From:   Dave Walters 
Sent:   Wednesday, August 31, 2022 4:35 PM 
To:  Dale Rietberg (drrietberg@varnumlaw.com) 

<drrietberg@varnumlaw.com> 
Subject:  Reason for my earlier call 
 
Dale, 
 
Asking for some additional fee [sic] legal advice to review and discuss this letter. 
Our relationship with Ron is deteriorating further and the Board does not see it 
improving without some sort of action on their behalf. They asked me to draft this 
letter to voice their concerns, to go on record that they do not agree it is just an issue 
between the General Manager and the City Attorney. 
 

mailto:drrietberg@varnumlaw.com
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The idea is that they would copy the Mayor and Mayor Pro‐tem, that have also been 
copied on recent selective e‐mails between the two of us. As you may know, Ron 
has a way of inciting controversy between the two of us privately, and then copying 
some policy makers into our conversation, but not the entire conversation. Quite 
frankly, this one might actually have worked in reverse on him, as I was already 
forwarding the entire chain to Mike and Larry. 
 
The Board clearly now doesn’t see a path to continue working with Ron in his 
current capacity, particularly with Ron taking such an aggressive posture 
(somewhat emboldened by Council’s recent actions to deny the Board request) 
toward me, but more so toward them. 
 
If you could review this, it would be appreciated. Feel free to suggest any 
modifications you feel appropriate. Obviously, it would be best for this to not look 
like my letter. I think the Board wants to appear firm but fair, in making such an 
assessment. 

 
Dave 

 
(Exhibit I, emphasis added.) 
 
This email was sent on August 31, 2022, before the Hendrick FOIA request. To our knowledge, 
there were no pending FOIA requests that would seek this correspondence at the time it was 
created. Moreover, under the Record Retention Schedules, this appears to be transitory 
correspondence that did not need to be retained once the activity (i.e., review) was complete. We 
therefore do not believe this email substantiates the Whistleblower’s allegations.  
 
In sum, we conclude that the evidence does not support the Whistleblower’s allegations that the 
“BLP coordinated an attempt to delete email records related to [the Hendrick FOIA] request” or 
that the BLP “considered and decided to pursue the permanent deletion of documents and email 
records to avoid disclosure per FOIA.”  
 

V. Campaign Finance Act & Michigan Election Law 

A. Whistleblower’s Complaint 

According to the Resolution, the Whistleblower made the following allegations regarding the 2023 
Charter Amendment campaign: 
 

“The BLP has repeated false and misleading statements to its employees regarding a 
proposed Charter amendment.” 
 
“The BLP has pressured employees to sign a letter, to contribute funds, and to distribute 
door signs, all opposed to the proposed Charter amendment.” 

 
During our interview, the Whistleblower stated that Dave Walters spoke at lunch about the possible 
negative impacts (loss of insurance, jobs, and retirement) if the Charter amendment passed. Erik 
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Booth also allegedly spoke about this to employees. We believe these are the alleged “false and 
misleading” statements referenced in the Resolution. The Whistleblower also alleged that the BLP 
was improperly using a public relations firm to campaign against the Charter amendment.  

The Whistleblower further alleged that Rob Shelley asked the Whistleblower during work hours 
to contribute to the employee group that was campaigning against the Charter amendment. The 
Whistleblower said that Shelley said he knew he was not supposed to talk on work time but that it 
was close enough to the end of the day. The Whistleblower claims that Shelley followed up with 
the Whistleblower two or three more times in the workplace. 

The Whistleblower suggested that we interview BLP employees Earl Fisher, Michelle 
Ballast, Beau Ryther, and Shawn Kuck to confirm that they were pressured to contribute to the 
campaign during work hours. 

B. Summary of Additional Interviews

At the Whistleblower’s suggestion, we interviewed Earl Fisher, Michelle Ballast, Beau 
Ryther, and Shawn Kuck. None of them substantiated the Whistleblower’s account.  

Fisher stated that he contributed money to the campaign (by giving cash to Shelley) and attended 
one meeting of the campaign committee at Odd Sides. Fisher said Shelley asked him to 
contribute at lunch time when Fisher and Shelley were both “off the clock.” Fisher said he did 
not observe any campaign activity in the workplace during working hours, outside of lunch time.  

Ballast stated that she was not asked to contribute money at work. She did attend 
campaign committee meetings at Erik Booth’s house, but she said no meetings were held at the 
workplace. She did not ask anyone to contribute money to the campaign and did not witness 
anyone soliciting contributions at work. To her knowledge, all campaign activity was occurring 
away from work and off work hours.  

Ryther stated that he was not involved in the committee and did not contribute any money. He 
said no one asked him to contribute, and he did not witness any campaign activity during work 
hours.  

Kuck participated in the committee offsite. He met with Erik Booth and Rob Shelley outside of 
the workplace. Kuck said he did not solicit campaign contributions, and no one asked him to 
contribute money while he was at work.  

We also interviewed Rob Shelley, who kept track of the campaign contributions on a spreadsheet 
on his personal Google Drive. Shelley stated that no BLP money was used for the campaign, nor 
was any BLP equipment used for the campaign. All efforts were employee-led and after-hours.  

C. Michigan Campaign Finance Act

Talking about elections at work is not illegal – but using public money or resources to support a 
political campaign is.  
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A. Prohibited Conduct under the MCFA 

Section 57 of the Michigan Campaign Finance Act (“MCFA”) prohibits public bodies (or anyone 
acting for a public body) from using public resources to make a campaign “contribution or 
expenditure,” subject to certain exceptions.  MCL 169.257(1).  A “contribution” is a payment, gift, 
or transfer of anything of money value “made for the purpose of influencing the nomination or 
election of a candidate, for the qualification, passage, or defeat of a ballot question, or for the 
qualification of a new political party.”  MCL 169.204(1).  “Expenditure” is similarly defined as “a 
payment, donation, loan, or promise of payment of money or anything of ascertainable monetary 
value for goods, materials, services, or facilities in assistance of, or in opposition to, the nomination 
or election of a candidate, the qualification, passage, or defeat of a ballot question, or the 
qualification of a new political party.”  MCL 169.206(1).   

Under these definitions, a public body will violate Section 57 if it uses public resources to 
expressly advocate for the passage or defeat of a ballot question, or if it encourages or discourages 
voting for a particular candidate. “Public resources” includes more than public funds; it can include 
the public body’s office space, office supplies, vehicles, staff time, volunteer services, or even its 
social media account.   

The MCFA imposes penalties for violations of Section 57. Any person who knowingly violates 
the statute is guilty of a misdemeanor, punishable by a fine of not more than $1,000 or 
imprisonment for not more than one year, or both. If an entity (rather than an individual) violates 
the statute, then the fine could be as high as $20,000. MCL 169.257(4).  

B. Protected Conduct 

Section 57’s prohibitions do not apply to the following activities: 

(a) The expression of views by an elected or appointed public official who has policy 
making responsibilities. 

(b) The production or dissemination of factual information concerning issues relevant to 
the function of the public body. 

(c) The production or dissemination of debates, interviews, commentary, or information 
by a broadcasting station, newspaper, magazine, or other periodical or publication in 
the regular course of broadcasting or publication. 

(d) The use of a public facility owned or leased by, or on behalf of, a public body if any 
candidate or committee has an equal opportunity to use the public facility. 

(e) The use of a public facility owned or leased by, or on behalf of, a public body if that 
facility is primarily used as a family dwelling and is not used to conduct a fund-raising 
event. 

(f) An elected or appointed public official or an employee of a public body who, when 
not acting for a public body but is on his or her own personal time, is expressing his 



 

 
24 

or her own personal views, is expending his or her own personal funds, or is providing 
his or her own personal volunteer services. 

MCL 169.257(1).   
 

D. Analysis 

1. Political Speech in the Workplace 
 
We turn first to the allegation that Walters and Booth spoke in the workplace about negative 
impacts of the Charter amendment. Even if true, this is not unlawful. Political speech by employees 
during a campaign is protected political expression under the First Amendment. Murphy v 
Cockrell, 505 F3d 446, 453 (CA 6, 2007). It can only be restricted where it disrupts the workplace 
(in which case the disruption must be balanced against the employee’s free-speech rights), but 
disruption was not alleged here. Nor do the BLP’s employment policies restrict political speech. 
We do not find merit in this part of the Whistleblower’s complaint.  
 

2. Pressuring Employees to Contribute  
 
Beyond the Whistleblower’s own statement, we found no evidence that BLP’s senior staff was 
soliciting campaign contributions from employees during work hours. In fact, all of the witnesses 
we interviewed on this question (including the four witnesses suggested by the Whistleblower) 
denied that contributions were solicited during work hours. Even if contributions were solicited 
during work hours, we do not believe such solicitation was unlawful, nor did the BLP have a policy 
against such solicitations. 
 
Further, all of the witnesses (except the Whistleblower) stated that campaign activities did not 
occur during work hours and that no BLP funds or resources were used for the campaign. We 
found no evidence supporting the Whistleblower’s allegations. 
 
We therefore find insufficient evidence that the BLP made “repeated false and misleading 
statements to its employees regarding a proposed Charter amendment” or that it “pressured 
employees to sign a letter, to contribute funds, and to distribute door signs, all opposed to the 
proposed Charter amendment.”   
 

VI.    Open Meetings Act 

A. Whistleblower’s Complaint 

Per the Resolution, the Whistleblower alleged that “[t]he BLP has at least attempted to avoid 
compliance with the requirements of the Open Meetings Act[.]” 

The Whistleblower offered the following examples during our interview: 

• The Whistleblower claims to have seen emails that included a quorum of BLP board 
members. 
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• The Whistleblower claims to have seen emails between Dave Walters and Attorney Dale 
Rietberg discussing how they could conduct a closed session that would not violate the 
Open Meetings Act.  

• The Whistleblower claims that the BLP would have one board member on the phone with 
Dave Walters, another member in Walters’s office, and a third member in Molyneux’s 
office. However, the Whistleblower could not hear what they were saying.  

B. Summary of Additional Interviews 

We asked Walters and Booth whether they observed a quorum of BLP members at the BLP offices. 
They both answered no, except for non-deliberative events like training or retirement parties. 
Walters indicated that he would have a meeting each month with the board chair and sometimes 
the vice chair, but there was never a quorum.  

C. Analysis 

Under the Open Meetings Act, a “meeting” is “the convening of a public body at which a quorum 
is present for the purpose of deliberating toward or rendering a decision on a public policy.” MCL 
15.262. Meetings must comply with the Open Meetings Act’s notice, minutes, public comment 
period, and other requirements.  

We reviewed the BLP board members’ email accounts and found no emails where a quorum of 
members was “deliberating toward or rendering a decision on a public policy.” 

As to alleged discussions about a closed session, even if Walters and Attorney Rietberg discussed 
how to properly hold a closed session, that is not an Open Meetings Act violation. 

We also found no evidence to substantiate the Whistleblower’s claim that a quorum of BLP 
members were effectively “meeting” by having a member in Walters’s office, a member in 
Molyneux’s office, and a member on the phone. Even the Whistleblower admitted they could not 
hear what was said, so there is no way to know whether they were “deliberating toward or 
rendering a decision on a public policy,” even if a quorum were present.  

In the absence of any evidence of an Open Meetings Act violation, we find this allegation to be 
unsubstantiated.  

VII. Conclusion and Recommendation 

Because the Whistleblower’s allegations were not substantiated by the evidence, we do not 
recommend that the City take any action on those allegations.  

We note, however, that the Whistleblower remains protected from retaliation even though the 
allegations were not proven. Under Michigan’s Whistleblowers’ Protection Act, an employee who 
reports a “suspected violation” is entitled to protection. The Whistleblower clearly suspected a 
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violation, based on the limited information they had at the time, and thus we would caution the 
City or BLP against disciplining the Whistleblower for bringing forward these allegations.8 

Please let us know if you have any questions or concerns.  

 

 
8 We express no opinion as to whether the Whistleblower can or should be disciplined for accessing and copying the 
BLP’s email data or any other BLP policy, which we understand may be the subject of a separate investigation by the 
BLP.  



 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 



From: Sarah Riley Howard
To: Renee Molyneux
Cc: Ronald A. Bultje
Subject: FOIA request for documents
Date: Tuesday, September 6, 2022 2:48:48 PM
Attachments: image001.png

Dear Ms. Molyneux,
 
I am an attorney who represents Andrea Hendrick. I am sending you this request for information
related to the Grand Haven Board of Light and Power (“BLP”) under Michigan’s Freedom of
Information Act (“FOIA”). I am also copying BLP’s attorney, Ronald Bultje, in the event that you are
no longer BLP’s FOIA Coordinator. I would appreciate if you and/or Mr. Bultje would confirm receipt
of this request.
 
I am seeking the information described below:
 

All written or otherwise stored communications by and/or between David Walters, BLP
general manager; any other staff person of BLP; any board member of BLP; any agent of a
staff or board member of BLP; and/or any attorney or agent for the Varnum Law Firm,
regarding the resolution presented at the August 3, 2022 BLP board meeting seeking to hire
the Varnum Law Firm to represent the BLP. “Written or otherwise stored communications”
include communications sent via: email and/or text on any device; messaging service like that
on Facebook, Snapchat or Instragram; exchanged drafts of resolutions or of other documents
intended to result in the BLP hiring its own separate legal counsel or other type of adviser;
and/or voicemail messages.

 
Please respond within the five business days permitted by FOIA. In addition, if you believe that the
cost will exceed $50, please advise in advance with a detailed estimate of charges. I prefer electronic
delivery of copies of the materials described, but I am also willing to accept receipt in whatever way
is easiest and most economical, including in-person review. Let me know if you have any questions –
my cell number is 616-901-9140.
 
Thank you in advance –
Sarah Howard
 
 
SARAH RILEY HOWARD
Employment, Labor & Civil Rights Attorney
showard@psfklaw.com 
p 616.451.8496 | c 616.901.9140
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PINSKY, SMITH, FAYETTE & KENNEDY, LLP
Protecting Working People and their Families
 
McKay Tower 
146 Monroe Center NW, Suite 418
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503-2818
info@psfklaw.com | www.psfklaw.com
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________
 
E-mail Disclaimer: Please be advised that contacting Pinsky, Smith, Fayette & Kennedy, LLP or one of its attorneys by email does not constitute
establishing an attorney-client relationship or otherwise confidential relationship between you and the firm. Please do not give us any
information you regard as confidential until a formal attorney-client relationship has been established. Any information you give to us before
establishing an attorney-client relationship will not be regarded as privileged or confidential.

 
 
 

Total Control Panel Login

To: rmolyneux@ghblp.org
From: showard@psfklaw.com

Message Score: 30 High (60): Pass
My Spam Blocking Level: Medium Medium (75): Pass
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Block this sender
Block psfklaw.com

This message was delivered because the content filter score did not exceed your filter level.
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EXHIBIT B 



Grand Haven Board of Light & Power 1700 Eaton Drive, Grand Haven, MI 49417 

 

 

Administrative Services | p 616.607.1261 | f 616.846.3114 | e-mail rmolyneux@ghblp.org | ghblp.org 

 
 

September 14, 2022 

 

Ms. Sarah Riley Howard 

Pinsky, Smith, Fayette & Kennedy, LLP 

146 Monroe Center NW, Suite 418 

Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503-2818 

 

Re: FOIA Request dated September 6, 2022 

 

Dear Ms. Riley Howard: 

 

The Grand Haven Board of Light and Power (GHBLP) received your FOIA request by email dated Tuesday, September 6, 

2022. Pursuant to the FOIA, that means the time to respond begins to run on Wednesday, September 7, 2022. The Michigan 

Freedom of Information Act provides that you may request from the Board of Light & Power copies of public record. The 

phrase “public record” is defined in the Michigan Freedom of Information Act as, “a writing prepared, owned, used, in the 

possession of, or retained by a public body in the performance of an official function, from the time it is created.” 

 

The Board of Light & Power has reviewed, and is responding accordingly, to your request for copies of any written or stored 

communications between the GHBLP, or any agent of the GHBLP, and Varnum Law Firm regarding the Resolution presented 

at the August 3, 2022, Board Meeting. 

 

Request Denied: The GHBLP does not have any written or stored communications with the Varnum Law Firm regarding the 

Resolution approved by its Board at their August 3, 2022, Board Meeting. 

 

Fee: No fee is required for this digital correspondence. 

 

Because of the denial of your FOIA request, you have the right to appeal to the GHBLP Board, or to the Circuit Court, or to 

both. Attached is a copy of Section 10 of the FOIA, which explains your appeal rights. 

 

Please contact me with any questions. 

 

Best regards, 

GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT & POWER 

 

 

 

Renee Molyneux 

Administrative Services Manager 

 

Enclosure 

 



 
 
 

EXHIBIT C 



From: Renee Molyneux
To: Sarah Riley Howard; Ronald A. Bultje
Subject: RE: 2022 09 14 FOIA Response - Howard - Appeal/Questions on Response Denying Responsive Documents
Date: Thursday, September 15, 2022 8:32:00 AM
Attachments: image005.png

Good morning Sarah,
 
Your explanation below is a much broader interpretation than what I read in your FOIA. Given that, I
am now exercising the 10-day extension to conduct a wider search.
 
Thank you,
Renee
 

 

      
 

From: Sarah Riley Howard <showard@psfklaw.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, September 14, 2022 6:17 PM
To: Renee Molyneux <RMolyneux@ghblp.org>; Ronald A. Bultje <RBultje@dickinson-wright.com>
Subject: Re: 2022 09 14 FOIA Response - Howard - Appeal/Questions on Response Denying
Responsive Documents
 
Renee,
 
I believe that my request was sufficiently clear, but if not, I did indeed want all communications that
are on the broad subject of seeking separate legal counsel, whether or not those communications
include a person associated with the Varnum law firm. For example, that would include
communications between Mr. Walters and any other person; a Board member and any other
person; a BLP staff person other than Mr. Walters, and so forth.
 
I appreciate your efforts on this.
 
Thank you,
Sarah
 
Get Outlook for iOS

mailto:RMolyneux@ghblp.org
mailto:showard@psfklaw.com
mailto:RBultje@dickinson-wright.com
https://aka.ms/o0ukef






From: Renee Molyneux <RMolyneux@ghblp.org>
Sent: Wednesday, September 14, 2022 5:53:25 PM
To: Sarah Riley Howard <showard@psfklaw.com>; Ronald A. Bultje <RBultje@dickinson-wright.com>
Subject: RE: 2022 09 14 FOIA Response - Howard - Appeal/Questions on Response Denying
Responsive Documents
 
Hi Sarah,
 
We understood your FOIA request to seek communications with Varnum from the named list. Our
answer, accordingly, was in response to this request. Please clarify your request further if you desire
additional information.
 
Renee
 
 

 

      
 

From: Sarah Riley Howard <showard@psfklaw.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, September 14, 2022 5:24 PM
To: Renee Molyneux <RMolyneux@ghblp.org>; Ronald A. Bultje <RBultje@dickinson-wright.com>
Subject: RE: 2022 09 14 FOIA Response - Howard - Appeal/Questions on Response Denying
Responsive Documents
 
Ms. Molyneux and Mr. Bultje,
 
Thank you for this response. I have some questions about your explanation that there are no
documents which exist which are covered by my request and required to be produced pursuant to
FOIA. If you need to consider this an appeal in order to answer these questions, please do, although I
do not believe that is required.
 
Your explanation makes me think that there could be communications otherwise responsive to my
request as written that are held on personal devices of Board staff or Board members that you are
not providing. If so, such communications are responsive and must be produced under FOIA as
containing the business of the Board, even if they are not in the Board’s physical possession right

mailto:RMolyneux@ghblp.org
mailto:showard@psfklaw.com
mailto:RBultje@dickinson-wright.com
mailto:showard@psfklaw.com
mailto:RMolyneux@ghblp.org
mailto:RBultje@dickinson-wright.com


now. Mr. Bultje took this position on behalf of the Board when the Board’s chair made a FOIA
request for Ms. Hendrick’s communications earlier this year. Please identify whether the Board is
refusing to provide existing documents under my FOIA request for this reason.
 
Second, my original request read as follows:
 

All written or otherwise stored communications by and/or between David Walters, BLP
general manager; any other staff person of BLP; any board member of BLP; any agent of a
staff or board member of BLP; and/or any attorney or agent for the Varnum Law Firm,
regarding the resolution presented at the August 3, 2022 BLP board meeting seeking to hire
the Varnum Law Firm to represent the BLP. “Written or otherwise stored communications”
include communications sent via: email and/or text on any device; messaging service like that
on Facebook, Snapchat or Instragram; exchanged drafts of resolutions or of other documents
intended to result in the BLP hiring its own separate legal counsel or other type of adviser;
and/or voicemail messages.

 
Among other things, this would require that the Board produce under FOIA any communications
between/among Board members and/or staff, even those communications not involving anyone
from Varnum, on the subject of hiring Varnum. The wording of your response makes me think that
the Board is only denying that communications involving a party from Varnum exist. Please provide
confirmation that there are no communications between/among Board members/staff, or provide
those communications as originally requested under the FOIA.
 
If either of these questions are unclear, please let me know. I will look forward to hearing from you.
 
Sarah Howard
 

From: Renee Molyneux <RMolyneux@ghblp.org> 
Sent: Wednesday, September 14, 2022 4:52 PM
To: Sarah Riley Howard <showard@psfklaw.com>
Cc: Ronald A. Bultje <RBultje@dickinson-wright.com>
Subject: 2022 09 14 FOIA Response - Riley Howard
 

Ms. Sarah Riley Howard

Pinsky, Smith, Fayette & Kennedy, LLP

146 Monroe Center NW, Suite 418

Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503-2818

 

Re: FOIA Request dated September 6, 2022

 

Dear Ms. Riley Howard:

 

The Grand Haven Board of Light and Power (GHBLP) received your FOIA request by email dated

Tuesday, September 6, 2022. Pursuant to the FOIA, that means the time to respond begins to run on

Wednesday, September 7, 2022. The Michigan Freedom of Information Act provides that you may

mailto:RMolyneux@ghblp.org
mailto:showard@psfklaw.com
mailto:RBultje@dickinson-wright.com


request from the Board of Light & Power copies of public record. The phrase “public record” is defined

in the Michigan Freedom of Information Act as, “a writing prepared, owned, used, in the possession of,

or retained by a public body in the performance of an official function, from the time it is created.”

 

The Board of Light & Power has reviewed, and is responding accordingly, to your request for copies of

any written or stored communications between the GHBLP, or any agent of the GHBLP, and Varnum

Law Firm regarding the Resolution presented at the August 3, 2022, Board Meeting.

 

Request Denied: The GHBLP does not have any written or stored communications with the Varnum

Law Firm regarding the Resolution approved by its Board at their August 3, 2022, Board Meeting.

 

Fee: No fee is required for this digital correspondence.

 

Because of the denial of your FOIA request, you have the right to appeal to the GHBLP Board, or to

the Circuit Court, or to both. Attached is a copy of Section 10 of the FOIA, which explains your appeal

rights.

 

Please contact me with any questions.

 

Best regards,

GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT & POWER

 

 

 

Renee Molyneux

Administrative Services Manager

 

Enclosure

 
 

 

      
 

Total Control Panel Login

https://portal.reflexion.net/login?domain=ghblp.org


To: rmolyneux@ghblp.org

From: showard@psfklaw.com

Remove this sender from my allow list
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EXHIBIT D 



Grand Haven Board of Light & Power 1700 Eaton Drive, Grand Haven, MI 49417 

 

 

Administrative Services | p 616.607.1261 | f 616.846.3114 | e-mail rmolyneux@ghblp.org | ghblp.org 

 
 

September 22, 2022 

 

Ms. Sarah Riley Howard 

Pinsky, Smith, Fayette & Kennedy, LLP 

146 Monroe Center NW, Suite 418 

Grand Rapids, Michigan 49503-2818 

 

Re: FOIA Request dated September 6, 2022 

 

Dear Ms. Riley Howard: 

 

The Grand Haven Board of Light and Power (GHBLP) received your FOIA request by email dated Tuesday, September 6, 

2022 with the time to respond beginning to run on Wednesday, September 7, 2022. As you know, we exercised the ten-day 

extension to do a more comprehensive search for records given your broadened clarification of the FOIA request (vs. my initial 

interpretation) sent via email on September 14, 2022.  

 

The Michigan Freedom of Information Act provides that you may request from the Board of Light & Power copies of public 

record. The phrase “public record” is defined in the Michigan Freedom of Information Act as, “a writing prepared, owned, used, 

in the possession of, or retained by a public body in the performance of an official function, from the time it is created.” 

 

The Board of Light & Power has reviewed, and is responding accordingly, to your request for copies of any written or stored 

communications between the GHBLP, or any agent of the GHBLP, and Varnum Law Firm regarding the Resolution presented 

at the August 3, 2022, Board Meeting. 

 

Request Approved: The GHBLP is providing the following documents, which includes all “written or otherwise stored 

communications by and/or between David Walters, BLP general manager; any other staff person of BLP; any board member 

of BLP; any agent of a staff or board member of BLP; and/or any attorney or agent for the Varnum Law Firm, regarding the 

resolution presented at the August 3, 2022 BLP board meeting seeking to hire the Varnum Law Firm to represent the BLP.” 

 

• 07 21 22 Board Minutes 

• 08 03 22 Special Board Meeting Minutes 

• 2022 07 21 GHBLP Proposes Intragovernmental Agreement - 16.1MM Transfer to City (attachment) 

• 2022 07 21 News Release - GHBLP Proposes Intragovernmental Agreement - 16.1MM Transfer to City 

• 2022 08 02 Board - Special Board Meeting - August 3rd 

• 2022 08 02 Council - Special Board Meeting 

• 2022 08 02 Special Meeting - August 3 

• 2022 08 03 Media Release - GHBLP Adopts Resolution to Support Cohesive Plan with Grand Haven City Council 

• 2022 08 04 GHBLP Board Adopts Resolution to Support Cohesive Plan with Grand Haven City Council 

• 2022 08 05 Facebook Post – Hendrick 

• 2022 08 11 Molyneux - Hendrick RE_ Resolution 

• 2022 08 12 Keeping You Informed 



Grand Haven Board of Light & Power 1700 Eaton Drive, Grand Haven, MI 49417 

 

 

Administrative Services | p 616.607.1261 | f 616.846.3114 | e-mail rmolyneux@ghblp.org | ghblp.org 

 
• August 3 2022 Special Meeting Notice 

• Board Agenda 08 03 22 Special Mtg 

• Board Package August 18, 2022 

• Board Resolution 8-3-22 

• Email Confirming Special Board Meeting Date and Time 

 

This response includes all the “written or otherwise stored communications by and/or between David Walters, BLP general 

manager; any other staff person of BLP; any board member of BLP; any agent of a staff or board member of BLP; and/or any 

attorney or agent for the Varnum Law Firm, regarding the resolution presented at the August 3, 2022 BLP board meeting 

seeking to hire the Varnum Law Firm to represent the BLP” that we have. 

 

Fee: Because Andrea Hendrick is a Board member of GHBLP, no fee will be required for this digital correspondence. 

 

Please contact me with any questions. 

 

Best regards, 

GRAND HAVEN BOARD OF LIGHT & POWER 

 

 

Renee Molyneux 

Administrative Services Manager 

 

Attachments 



 
 
 

EXHIBIT E 



CYA Work Situation that happened on 9/9/2022
1 message

Thu, Sep 15, 2022 at 11:25 AM
To: 

Thursday September 15th, 2022,

 

I’m sending this email to my personal email account as a record of an event/conversation I had last week with Dave
Walters. The subject matter and what was asked of me made me feel extremely uncomfortable. I felt the situation I’ve
explained below was morally wrong and possibly illegal in my opinion. Right after the situation I’ve described below took
place I immediately went to my manager Rob Shelly and informed him of the conversation I had with Dave Walters and
that I had some issues with it. Later that day Rob and I talked about what was said and I explained the situation to him.
Rob told me that he knows the request to delete items came from Dave, but he (Rob) as my manager would not instruct
me to do anything I feel is morally wrong and that he would have a conversation with Dave and would get back to me on
this issue.

 

I ended up not deleting the Outlook email items Dave Walters had ask me to delete from the executive managers
accounts. Instead, I was tasked to work on creating a policy that would auto delete & purge items in the Outlook “Deleted
Items” folder after 7 days.

 

I don’t know if the managers ended up deleting & purging the email items Dave Walters wanted deleted on their own or
not but thinking about it the situation still makes me feel uneasy almost a week later. Which is why I’m writing about and
documenting this incident. I’ve written this issue down in my Work Log on my iPad at the time but thought I should have
this documented in a way that was a little more trackable and with timestamps.  

 

   

The situation:

The morning of Friday September 9th, 2022, Dave Walters met with me in his office. He wanted me to show him how to
delete & purge emails, so they are not recoverable. I walked Dave through the process of deleting & purging items in his
Outlook Deleted Items folder. I also explained to him our current email retention setup that with the amount of storage
space Microsoft gives us for mailboxes that all emails are kept forever until the user deletes the email and then purges
the “Deleted Items” folder in Outlook. At that point, I believe I as the O365 Admin can recover items deleted & purged by
users 30 days from the time the item was deleted & purged, but I don’t know that for a fact and haven’t ever performed
that type of recovery on our system. My belief is after those 30 days from the time the user deletes and purges the item it
is gone for good. Dave informed me about a FOIA request from a Board member (Andrea) and instructed me to meet with
the other executive managers (Lynn, Renee, Erik, Rob) and delete & purge their Outlook deleted items folder and to
explain to them the current email retention setup that I explained to him. Dave was upset as he explained to me about an
email Renee had that Dave instructed her to delete and for whatever reason she didn’t delete it. Dave was concerned that
now that email would be included in the FOIA request which he stated he didn’t want. Dave said after I meet with the
other executive managers I should sit down with Rob and develop a company policy for email retention that includes auto
deleting & purging items in a user’s Outlook “Deleted Items” folder after a given time frame, Dave’s example was
something like nightly or every 1-2 days.   

 



 



 
EXHIBIT F 



From:  

Sent time:  10/28/2022 02:12:37 PM

To:  Dave Walters; Renee Molyneux; Lynn Diffell; Rob Shelley; Erik Booth

Subject:  I have applied the Email retention policy to your Outlook Deleted Items folder
 

I have implemented the new email retention policy to your Outlook Deleted Items folder. It might take a little while for the
policy to activate on this folder, but when its active the items in your Deleted Items folder will be deleted 7 days from the time
the police is activated. You will then have another 14 days to recover those deleted items before they are permanently deleted
from the Recovery Items location inside the Deleted Items folder. Please let me know if you have any questions.
Thanks,
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EXHIBIT H 
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EXHIBIT I 



From:  Renee Molyneux

Sent time:  08/01/2022 10:26:39 AM

To:  Dave Walters; Erik Booth

Subject:  RE: Draft resolution

Attachments:  Proposed Board Resolution 8-1-22 v02.docx    
 

Several proposed revisions are included in the attached draft.
 

 

     
 

From: Dave Walters <DWalters@ghblp.org> 
Sent: Monday, August 1, 2022 8:33 AM
To: Erik Booth <EBooth@ghblp.org>; Renee Molyneux <RMolyneux@ghblp.org>
Subject: FW: Draft resolution
 
Review and make any suggests to improve with an eye to shorten if possible, without losing arguments.
 
Dave
 

 

From: Dave Walters 
Sent: Monday, August 1, 2022 8:15 AM
To: Dale Rietberg (drrietberg@varnumlaw.com) <drrietberg@varnumlaw.com>
Subject: RE: Draft resolution
 
I few updates.
 
Dave
 

 

From: Dave Walters 
Sent: Sunday, July 31, 2022 10:26 PM
To: Dale Rietberg (drrietberg@varnumlaw.com) <drrietberg@varnumlaw.com>
Subject: Draft resolution

mailto:drrietberg@varnumlaw.com
mailto:drrietberg@varnumlaw.com
mailto:drrietberg@varnumlaw.com
mailto:drrietberg@varnumlaw.com


 
Dale,
 
Can you review the attached draft resolution ASAP?  I think I desire to remove the references to charter sections later,
however, at this point they serve to reference and highlight the applicable sections.  We also may want to shorten or focus the
resolution a bit further.  Let me know your thoughts.  I like the two “be it resolved statements” – the whereas statements are
only informational and can be shortened.
 
I have a meeting at 11 AM tomorrow with the board chair and vice‐chair to schedule a special meeting (single agenda item
would be this resolution) hopefully this week to act on such a resolution.  SeyferthPR will additionally be drafting a press
release for this meeting and action.
 
The Board would also likely then cancel the special joint meting on the 10th,  to allow the City Council time to consider the
Board’s resolution.  We are leaving them very little room to maneuver and still proceed.
 
Thoughts?
 
Dave  
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT J 



From:  Dave Walters

Sent time:  08/31/2022 05:13:19 PM

To:  Erik Booth

Subject:  FW: Reason for my earlier call

Attachments:  Kieft-Westbrook Ltr dated 9-1-2022.docx    
 

I drafted this letter to Ron for Larry and Mike and I additionally sent it to Dale below for some “free legal advice.”
 
Let me know what you think.  After you review it please delete the draft and this e‐mail and your response.
 
Dave
 

 
From: Dave Walters 
Sent: Wednesday, August 31, 2022 4:35 PM
To: Dale Rietberg (drrietberg@varnumlaw.com) <drrietberg@varnumlaw.com>
Subject: Reason for my earlier call
 
Dale,
 
Asking for some additional fee legal advice to review and discuss this letter.  Our relationship with Ron is deteriorating further
and the Board does not see it improving without some sort of action on their behalf.  They asked me to draft this letter to voice
their concerns, to go on record that they do not agree it is just an issue between the General Manager and the City Attorney.
 
The idea is that they would copy the Mayor and Mayor Pro‐tem, that have also been copied on recent selective e‐mails
between the two of us.  As you may know, Ron has a way of inciting controversy between the two of us privately, and then
copying some policy makers into our conversation, but not the entire conversation.  Quite frankly, this one might actually have
worked in reverse on him, as I was already forwarding the entire chain to Mike and Larry.
 
The Board clearly now doesn’t see a path to continue working with Ron in his current capacity, particularly with Ron taking such
an aggressive posture (somewhat emboldened by Council’s recent actions to deny the Board request) toward me, but more so
toward them.
 
If you could review this, it would be appreciated.  Feel free to suggest any modifications you feel appropriate.  Obviously, it
would be best for this to not look like my letter.  I think the Board wants to appear firm but fair, in making such an assessment.
 
Dave
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